

Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022

made under subsection 84(1) of the

Fuel Security Act 2021

Compilation No. 1

Compilation date: 31 March 2023

Includes amendments up to: F2023L00371

Registered: 17 April 2023

Prepared by the Office of Parliamentary Counsel, Canberra

About this compilation

This compilation

This is a compilation of the *Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022* that shows the text of the law as amended and in force on 31 March 2023 (the *compilation date*).

The notes at the end of this compilation (the *endnotes*) include information about amending laws and the amendment history of provisions of the compiled law.

Uncommenced amendments

The effect of uncommenced amendments is not shown in the text of the compiled law. Any uncommenced amendments affecting the law are accessible on the Legislation Register (www.legislation.gov.au). The details of amendments made up to, but not commenced at, the compilation date are underlined in the endnotes. For more information on any uncommenced amendments, see the series page on the Legislation Register for the compiled law.

Application, saving and transitional provisions for provisions and amendments

If the operation of a provision or amendment of the compiled law is affected by an application, saving or transitional provision that is not included in this compilation, details are included in the endnotes.

Editorial changes

For more information about any editorial changes made in this compilation, see the endnotes.

Modifications

If the compiled law is modified by another law, the compiled law operates as modified but the modification does not amend the text of the law. Accordingly, this compilation does not show the text of the compiled law as modified. For more information on any modifications, see the series page on the Legislation Register for the compiled law.

Self-repealing provisions

If a provision of the compiled law has been repealed in accordance with a provision of the law, details are included in the endnotes.

Contents

Part 1-	—Prelimina	nry	
	1	Name	
	3	Authority	1
	4	Definitions	1
Part 2-	—Importing	g, MSO products and stock holding	2
	5	Importing	2
	6	MSO products	2
	7	Pipeline stocks	2
	8	Excluded stocks	3
	9	Stocks within exclusive economic zone boundary	3
	10	Jointly owned stocks	3
	11	Entity entitled to take ownership of stocks	3
	12	Reserved stocks	3
	13	Refinery feedstocks—crude oil	
	14	Refinery feedstocks—unfinished refinery product	
Part 3-	–Applicati	on of MSO	4
	15	Obligation days	4
	16	Trigger assessment period	4
	17	Thresholds to trigger MSO	4
	18	Notice window and advice window	4
	19	Notices to Australian controlling corporation	6
Part 4	–Designate	ed quantity	7
	20	Designated quantity to be specified	
	21	Designated quantity—general	
	22	Designated quantity—loss of a major customer during trigger assessment period	
	23	Designated quantity—circumstances impacting MSO entity at commencement	
	24	Designated quantity—entity consistently below threshold	
Part 5-	-Tempora	ry reduction in designated quantities	1:
	25	Applications for temporary reduction in quantity of stocks	11
	26	Criteria for temporary reduction in quantity of stocks	
	27	Additional transitional reduction in quantity of stocks	

Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022

ι

Registered: 17/04/2023

Compilation No. 1

Compilation date: 31/03/2023

Part 6—Suspension	on of MSO	13
28	Suspension by Minister	13
29	Application for suspension by Secretary	13
30	Secretary's decision on suspension	13
31	Class of entities included in a suspension	14
Part 7—Notice of	intention to cease all MSO activities in	
relation t	o MSO product	15
32	Requirements for notice of intention to cease MSO activities	15
Part 8—Audit		16
33	Conduct of audits under section 33 or section 34 of the Act	16
Part 9—MSO con	npliance plan	17
34	Operation of this Part	17
35	What an MSO compliance plan must contain—outline	17
36	What an MSO compliance plan must contain—overview of current practices	15
37	What an MSO compliance plan must contain—compliance pathway	
38	What an MSO compliance plan must contain—data collection, reporting and record keeping	
39	What an MSO compliance plan must contain—schedule of future outages	
40	Provision of MSO compliance plan to Secretary	
Part 10—Assump	tion or division of MSO	19
41	Assumption or division	19
Part 11—Monitor	ing secondary markets and assisting	
complian	ce	20
42	Monitoring of secondary market activity and assisting compliance	20
Part 12—Publicat	tion of information	21
13	Information publication	21

Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022

ii

Compilation No. 1 Compilation date: 31/03/2023 Registered: 17/04/2023

Endnotes	22
Endnote 1—About the endnotes	22
Endnote 2—Abbreviation key	23
Endnote 3—Legislation history	24
Endnote 4—Amendment history	25

Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022

iii

Registered: 17/04/2023

Compilation No. 1

Compilation date: 31/03/2023



Part 1—Preliminary

1 Name

This instrument is the Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022.

3 Authority

This instrument is made under subsection 84(1) of the Fuel Security Act 2021.

4 Definitions

Note:

A number of expressions used in this instrument are defined in the Act, including the following:

- (a) Australian controlling corporation;
- (b) MSO;
- (c) MSO activity;
- (d) MSO product.

In this instrument:

Act means the Fuel Security Act 2021.

FQS Act means the Fuel Quality Standards Act 2000.

FSSP Rule means the Fuel Security (Fuel Security Services Payment) Rule 2021.

MSO compliance plan means a plan prepared and kept up to date for section 36 of the Act.

N10 form means the *Import declaration (N10)* form approved under section 71K of the *Customs Act 1901*, as in force from time to time.

N30 form means the Import declaration out of warehouse (Import declaration N30) form approved under section 71K of the Customs Act 1901, as in force from time to time.

NGER (Audit) Determination means the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting (Audit) Determination 2009.

POFR Act means the Petroleum and Other Fuels Reporting Act 2017.

POFR rules means the Petroleum and Other Fuels Reporting Rules 2017.

Refinery Upgrades Program means the program established by the *Industry Research and Development (Refinery Upgrades Program) Instrument 2021*.

section 24 arrangement means an arrangement with effect under section 24 of the Act that MSO product is held for another entity.

trigger assessment period: see section 16.

Part 2—Importing, MSO products and stock holding

5 Importing

- (1) This section prescribes acts that constitute the importation of an MSO product for paragraph (b) of the definition of "import" in section 5 of the Act.
- (2) If an MSO product is imported by an entity (the *first entity*) under paragraph (a) of the definition of "import" on behalf of another entity (the *second entity*) in circumstances covered by subsection (3), the second entity has also imported the MSO product.
- (3) For subsection (2), the circumstances are that:
 - (a) there is an arrangement agreed between each entity that MSO products are, or will be, imported on behalf of the second entity; and
 - (b) under the arrangement the second entity is to own the imported MSO product and is responsible for meeting relevant fees and charges relating to the importation; and
 - (c) the arrangement is notified in writing to the Secretary by both entities; and
 - (d) the Secretary has not notified the entities that arrangement is considered to be a mechanism to avoid the application of the thresholds in section 17; and
 - (e) the importation is covered by the arrangement.

6 MSO products

- (1) This section prescribes requirements to be met by MSO products for the definition of *MSO product* in section 5 of the Act.
- (2) Gasoline and diesel must be able to be supplied and used for road transport consistent with the FQS Act.

Note: Gasoline and diesel reported under the POFR Act include various ethanol and biodiesel blends which meet this definition.

(3) Gasoline and diesel are taken to comply with subsection (2) at a particular time if relevant requirements for supply under the FQS Act are not met at that time, but will be met within 48 hours after that time.

Note: An example of such a situation is where a fuel settles to meet water and sediment standards.

- (4) Kerosene must be:
 - (a) jet fuel as reported under the POFR rules; and
 - (b) saleable for air transport purposes in Australia.

7 Pipeline stocks

For subparagraph 20(1)(b)(iii) of the Act, the circumstances are:

(a) the MSO product is under the ownership and control of the entity covered by section 19 of the Act; and

- (b) the MSO product is able to be accessed to assist mitigate a fuel security event; and
- (c) the accounting and reporting of these products is provided for in an MSO compliance plan.

8 Excluded stocks

For subsection 20(2) of the Act, stocks of an MSO product are excluded if the stocks do not meet the standards required to comply with section 6.

9 Stocks within exclusive economic zone boundary

For subparagraph 21(b)(iv) of the Act, the circumstances are:

- (a) the vessel is within the outer limits of Australia's exclusive economic zone;
- (b) the vessel:
 - (i) is travelling directly to an Australian port; and
 - (ii) has entered Australia's exclusive economic zone as part of the voyage under subparagraph (i); and
 - (iii) has temporarily exited Australia's exclusive economic zone while en route to the Australian port.

Note: The expression *exclusive economic zone* is defined in section 2B of the *Acts Interpretation Act 1901*.

10 Jointly owned stocks

For subsection 22(2) of the Act, if more than one entity would be the holder of the same stocks of an MSO product under subsection 22(1) of the Act, the amount of stock held by each entity is to be:

- (a) if a written agreement is in place between the entities which provides an allocation of stocks by the entities expressly for this paragraph—determined in accordance with that agreement; or
- (b) otherwise—allocated to each entity based on their share of the ownership of the stocks.

11 Entity entitled to take ownership of stocks

For paragraph 23(c) of the Act, the legally enforceable arrangement must:

- (a) be in writing; and
- (b) provide entity 1 under section 23 of the Act a contractual right to take possession of the stocks and remove them from storage.

12 Reserved stocks

- (1) For paragraph 24(c) of the Act, the legally enforceable arrangement must:
 - (a) be in writing; and
 - (b) expressly allocate the stock to entity 1 under section 24 of the Act; and
 - (c) specify a period for which they are allocated.

Compilation date: 31/03/2023

3

(2) However, a legally enforceable arrangement must not allocate stock that is a feedstock under section 25 of the Act to an entity outside of the corporate group of the entity covered by paragraph 25(1)(a) of the Act.

13 Refinery feedstocks—crude oil

For subsection 25(1) of the Act, the quantity of diesel, gasoline and kerosene per megalitre of crude oil is to be calculated by applying:

- (a) the yields for the refinery applicable under section 12 of the FSSP Rule; or
- (b) the current yields for the refinery, based on at least a month of production volumes.

14 Refinery feedstocks—unfinished refinery product

- (1) For paragraph 25(3)(c) of the Act, an unfinished refinery product is prescribed if:
 - (a) the product is reasonably expected to be transformed into an MSO product at the refinery; and
 - (b) after transformation into an MSO product, the volume of the MSO product is expected to be more than 80% of the volume of the unfinished refinery product being stored at the refinery.
- (2) For subsection 25(1) of the Act, the quantity of diesel, gasoline and kerosene per megalitre of unfinished refinery product is to be calculated by applying a methodology set out in the entity's MSO compliance plan.
- (3) The methodology under subsection (2) must:
 - (a) be consistent with the composition and expected transformation of the unfinished refinery product; and
 - (b) not result in a total quantity of diesel, gasoline or kerosene that is greater than the quantity of the unfinished refinery product.

Part 3—Application of MSO

15 Obligation days

- (1) For definition of *obligation day* in section 5 of the Act, the following days are prescribed:
 - (a) 4 July 2023;
 - (b) each Tuesday two weeks after the previous obligation day until 1 July 2024;
 - (c) each subsequent Tuesday after 1 July 2024.
- (2) However, if the Tuesday is a public holiday in the Australian Capital Territory, the obligation day is the next day which is not a public holiday.

16 Trigger assessment period

For paragraph 10(1)(b) of the Act, the following periods (*trigger assessment periods*) are prescribed:

- (a) the 2019 calendar year;
- (b) the 2022 calendar year;
- (c) each subsequent calendar year.

17 Thresholds to trigger MSO

- (1) For subparagraph 10(1)(b)(ii) of the Act, unless subsection (2) applies, the volume of each MSO product necessary to trigger the MSO for the activity of refining or importing is as follows:
 - (a) gasoline—200 megalitres;
 - (b) diesel—250 megalitres;
 - (c) kerosene—250 megalitres.
- (2) If the Secretary is satisfied that the entity's refining or importing is carried out with a purpose or object of avoiding the threshold in subsection (1), the volume of each MSO product necessary to trigger the MSO for the activity of refining or importing is as follows:
 - (a) gasoline—10 megalitres;
 - (b) diesel—10 megalitres;
 - (c) kerosene—10 megalitres.

18 Notice window and advice window

- (1) For subsection 15(5) of the Act, a *notice window* is:
 - (a) the period that begins on 1 March 2024 and ends on 30 June 2024; and
 - (b) each subsequent period that begins on 1 March of a particular year and ends on 30 June of that year.
- (2) For subsection 16(4) of the Act, an advice window is a period of 2 months.

Compilation date: 31/03/2023

5

Note: An advice window ends at the start of a notice window (subsection 16(4) of the Act).

19 Notices to Australian controlling corporation

If the Secretary gives a notice to an entity under subsections 10(1), 15(1), 18(2), 18(5), 29(2), 29(7), 29(8) or 32(3) of the Act, the Secretary must take reasonable steps to also give a copy of the notice to any Australian controlling corporation of the entity.

Part 4—Designated quantity

20 Designated quantity to be specified

For subsections 10(3), 15(3) and 16(3) of the Act, the designated quantity of stocks of each MSO product the entity must hold on obligation days for which the notice is in force, or expects to be notified of for section 16 of the Act, must be calculated in accordance with this Part.

21 Designated quantity—general

- (1) For each MSO product, the designated quantity is the sum of the quantities required for importing the product under subsection (2) and the quantities required for refining the product under subsection (3), rounded to the nearest megalitre.
- (2) If the MSO is triggered for the activity of importing an MSO product (p), the quantity for that product is given by the following formula:

$$Q_{p} = TDI_{p} \times \frac{TI_{p}}{365}$$

where:

 Q_p is the designated quantity of the MSO product p, in megalitres.

 TDI_p is target days for the importing of the MSO product p declared under section 14 of the Act and applicable to the start of the period when the designated quantity will apply.

 TI_p is, subject to subsections (5) and (6), the total amount of the MSO product imported by the entity for the most recent completed trigger assessment period, in megalitres:

- (a) as reported under section 19F of the POFR rules; or
- (b) if not so reported—calculated for the trigger assessment period based on relevant N10 forms and N30 forms for the period.
- (3) If the MSO is triggered for the activity of refining an MSO product (p), the quantity for that product is given by the following formula:

$$Q_{p} = TDR_{p} \times \frac{TR_{p}}{365}$$

where:

 Q_p is the designated quantity of the MSO product p, in megalitres.

 TDR_p is target days for the refining of the MSO product p declared under section 14 of the Act and applicable to the start of the period when the designated quantity will apply.

 TR_p is, subject to subsection (5), the total amount of MSO product refined by the entity for the most recent completed trigger assessment period, in megalitres.

- (4) In this section, the volumes of MSO product imported or refined under subsections (2) and (3) include gasoline, diesel or kerosene which is intended to be sold as an MSO product, but does not yet meet the relevant specifications to be an MSO product.
- (5) If during a trigger assessment period the production of an MSO product at a refinery was curtailed for one or more months due to the Refinery Upgrades Program and the entity is subject to the MSO for the activity of importing and refining:
 - (a) TR_p under subsection (3) must be calculated based on the previous trigger assessment period; and
 - (b) the difference between the refining of the MSO product in the trigger assessment period and the refining of the MSO product in the previous assessment period must be deducted from TI_p under subsection (2).
- (6) If a volume of MSO product is imported by two entities in the circumstances covered by section 5, the amount imported by the first entity is to be disregarded.

22 Designated quantity—loss of a major customer during trigger assessment period

- (1) If the Secretary is satisfied that both of the following apply in relation to an MSO product, the Secretary may reduce the designated quantity for the MSO product calculated under section 21 by no more than the amount calculated under subsections (3) and (4):
 - (a) during the most recent completed trigger assessment period, the entity lost a major customer for the importation or refinement of the MSO product;
 - (b) as a result of that loss, the amount of MSO product that the entity will need to import or refine for the period when the designated quantity will apply is reduced.
- (2) For the purposes of this section, an entity is taken to have *lost a major customer* in relation to an MSO product only if:
 - (a) the entity ceased to have a contract with the customer for the importing or refining of the MSO product; and
 - (b) the total amount of MSO product that the entity imported or refined for the customer during the period exceeded the lesser of the following:
 - (i) 20% of the total amount of the MSO product that the entity imported or refined during the period;
 - (ii) 100 megalitres.

Note:

In determining whether an entity lost a major customer in relation to an MSO product, it is not relevant whether the entity continued to have a contract with that customer for the importing or refining of a different MSO product.

(3) If the MSO is triggered for the activity of importing an MSO product (p), the amount is given by the following formula:

$$C_p = TDI_p \times \frac{TI_c}{365}$$

where:

 C_p is the amount by which the designated quantity may be reduced for the MSO product p.

 TDI_p is the target number of days for importing the MSO product p declared under section 14 of the Act and applicable to the start of the period when the designated quantity will apply.

 TI_c is the total amount of MSO product p that the entity imported for the customer during the most recent completed trigger assessment period, in megalitres.

(4) If the MSO is triggered for the activity of refining an MSO product p, the amount is given by the following formula:

$$C_p = TDR_p \times \frac{TR_c}{365}$$

where:

 C_p is the amount by which the designated quantity may be reduced for the MSO product p.

 TDR_p is the target number of days for refining the MSO product p declared under section 14 of the Act and applicable to the start of the period when the designated quantity will apply.

 TR_c is the total amount of MSO product p that the entity refined for the customer during the most recent completed trigger assessment period, in megalitres.

(5) If, in relation to an MSO product, the entity lost more than one major customer during the most recent trigger assessment period, the total value of C_p may be calculated by applying the formula mentioned in subsection (3) or (4), as applicable, in respect of each major customer lost, and adding together the values of C_p .

23 Designated quantity—circumstances impacting MSO entity at commencement

- (1) If the Secretary is satisfied that all of the following apply, the designated quantity for each MSO product calculated under section 21 may be reduced by no more than the amount calculated under subsection (2):
 - (a) the designated quantity is to apply in a period before 1 July 2025;
 - (b) the entity has taken all reasonable steps since the commencement of this section to prepare for meeting the MSO;

- (c) the entity will be unable to meet the MSO if calculated under section 21 because:
 - (i) the storage owned, leased or otherwise available for the entity to use for one or more MSO products is unable to hold sufficient MSO products to meet the MSO; and
 - (ii) after market testing by the entity, there are no cost effective options for the entity to use section 24 arrangements to meet its obligations;
- (d) the MSO compliance plan for the entity provides a credible path to compliance within the next 2 years;
- (e) evidence has been provided to the Secretary to support each of the above paragraphs;
- (f) the entity has provided information to the Secretary on the prices paid, or offered to it, for section 24 arrangements;
- (g) if the designated quantity is to apply before 1 July 2024—the entity has made a written request to the Secretary for this section to apply on or before 28 February 2023;
- (h) if the designated quantity is to apply on or after 1 July 2024—a request for this section to apply was included in the advice provided for subsection 16(1) of the Act.

(2) The amount is:

- (a) if the Secretary is satisfied that the entity has given a credible commitment to construct additional storage infrastructure to enable the entity to comply with the MSO—25% of the amount calculated under section 21, rounded to the nearest megalitre; or
- (b) otherwise, the lesser of:
 - (i) 25% of the amount calculated under section 21, rounded to the nearest megalitre; and
 - (ii) the following amounts for each MSO product:
 - (A) gasoline—15 megalitres;
 - (B) diesel—15 megalitres;
 - (C) kerosene—15 megalitres.

24 Designated quantity—entity consistently below threshold

If the total amount of an MSO product imported and refined by an entity in each of the three previous trigger assessment periods is below the threshold for that fuel applicable in subsection 17(1), and subsection 17(2) does not apply, the designed quantity for that MSO product is calculated under section 21 as if the quantity of that MSO product imported or refined is zero in the most recent trigger assessment period.

Part 5—Temporary reduction in designated quantities

25 Applications for temporary reduction in quantity of stocks

For paragraph 17(2)(c) of the Act, the requirements are that the application:

- (a) be in a form approved in writing by the Secretary; and
- (b) include evidence that the criteria in section 26 or section 27 are met.

26 Criteria for temporary reduction in quantity of stocks

- (1) For subsection 18(6) of the Act, the Secretary may grant the application only if satisfied under subsection (2) or (3) or section 27.
- (2) The Secretary may grant an application if satisfied that the reduction is necessary because of one of the following circumstances that was beyond the reasonable control of the entity:
 - (a) to carry out a tank inspection required by law or to comply with relevant maintenance standards for the equipment;
 - (b) a significant shipping disruption due to unforeseen circumstances;
 - (c) to repair infrastructure damaged where the applicant is not responsible for, or did not contribute to, the damage;
 - (d) where a supplier of imported fuel is required to comply with the requirements to be an MSO product, but supplies fuel to the entity which is not compliant.
- (3) The Secretary may grant an application if satisfied that the applicant lost a major customer for the importing or refining of the MSO product.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (3), an applicant is taken to have *lost a major customer* in relation to an MSO product only if:
 - (a) the entity ceased to have a contract with the customer for the importation or refinement of the MSO product; and
 - (b) as a result of the contract ceasing, the amount of MSO product that the applicant will need to import or refine for the remainder of the MSO period is reduced by more than the lesser of the following:
 - 20% of the total amount of the MSO product that the entity expected to import or refine during the MSO period, before the major customer was lost;
 - (ii) 100 megalitres.

Note: In determining whether an entity lost a major customer in relation to an MSO product, it is not relevant whether the entity continued to have a contract with that customer for the importing or refining of a different MSO product.

(5) In this section, *MSO period* means the period covered by the most recent notice given to the applicant under section 10 or section 15 of the Act.

(6) The reduction in the quantity under subsections (2) and (3) must be no more than necessary, and for no longer than is necessary, to address the circumstance covered by that subsection.

27 Additional transitional reduction in quantity of stocks

For subsection 18(6) of the Act, the Secretary may also grant an application if satisfied that:

- (a) the designated quantity to be reduced relates to a period before 1 July 2024;
- (b) the designated quantity was set based on information or data that the Secretary is satisfied was incorrect; and
- (c) the reduction in quantity is consistent with that which would have been set if the correct information or data had been used.

Example: If the Secretary has triggered the MSO for an entity in relation to an MSO product under section 10 of the Act based on incorrect data on the quantity of product imported or refined by the entity, the Secretary may decide to reduce the quantity after receiving an application under section 17 of the Act. This section also applies to notices of quantity of MSO product under sections 15 or 18 of the Act that are based on incorrect information about amount of MSO products imported or refined by the entity.

Part 6—Suspension of MSO

28 Suspension by Minister

For paragraph 27(1)(b) of the Act, the following requirements are prescribed:

- (a) the suspension is no longer than is reasonably necessary to prevent or alleviate the disruption or likely disruption to supply;
- (b) Energy Ministers (within the meaning of the *Liquid Fuel Emergency Act* 1984) have been informed of the proposed suspension.

29 Application for suspension by Secretary

For subsection 28(2) of the Act, the requirements are that the application:

- (a) set out the proposed end date for the suspension; and
- (b) set out the reasons why the MSO should be suspended for the entity, having regard to section 30; and
- (c) provide an estimate of when stock would be held consistent with the MSO if the suspension were granted, and the reasons for this estimate; and
- (d) provide evidence to substantiate the matters referred to in paragraphs (b) and (c); and
- (e) provide details of any other entities who should, or should not, be included in a class of entities covered by the suspension; and
- (f) include the latest MSO compliance plan for the entity; and
- (g) set out why implementing their MSO compliance plan would not avoid a breach of the MSO without the suspension; and
- (h) be in a form approved by the Secretary.

30 Secretary's decision on suspension

- (1) This section prescribes requirements for subsection 29(2) of the Act.
- (2) The Secretary may grant an application only if satisfied that:
 - (a) compliance with the MSO would mean that the supply of one or more MSO products to fuel users has been, or is likely to be, disrupted; and
 - (b) the applicant substantiates the need to suspend the MSO.
- (3) The Secretary must refuse an application if satisfied that:
 - (a) the likely breach of the MSO by the applicant was caused, wholly or partially, by deficiencies in the entity's MSO compliance plan; or
 - (b) the reasons for the suspension would be more appropriately dealt with by a decision under section 18 of the Act to reduce the quantity of stocks for one or more entities under the MSO.

Note: Each entity would need to make their own application under section 17 of the Act for this to occur.

(4) In deciding whether to grant or refuse an application in circumstances covered by subsection (2), the Secretary must take into account:

- (a) the likelihood and impacts of disruption to fuel supply without a suspension; and
- (b) whether the applicant has taken all reasonable steps to avoid the need to suspend the MSO, including through arrangements under section 24 of the Act; and
- (c) any impacts on competition in the markets for MSO products from the suspension; and
- (d) that the period of any suspension should be no longer than reasonably necessary to address the reasons for suspension; and
- (e) whether implementing the MSO compliance plan will bring the applicant back into compliance in a timely manner; and
- (f) any other matters the Secretary considers relevant.
- (5) The Secretary must take all reasonable steps to make a decision on an application:
 - (a) if further information has been required—within 30 days of that information being provided; and
 - (b) otherwise—within 30 days after the application was made.
- (6) If appropriate, the Secretary may start the suspension period from a time after the reason for the suspension arose but before the decision on the suspension is made.

31 Class of entities included in a suspension

For subsection 29(3) of the Act, the Secretary may include a class of entities in the suspension if satisfied that:

- (a) the entities are in the same situation as the applicant or are likely to be similarly affected; and
- (b) not including the entities in the class could impact competition in one or more markets for MSO products.

Note: Under subsection 29(3) of the Act, the Secretary may do this on their own initiative, irrespective of who the applicant seeks to be included in a class of entities.

Part 7—Notice of intention to cease all MSO activities in relation to MSO product

32 Requirements for notice of intention to cease MSO activities

For subsection 31(2) of the Act, a notice that the entity intends to permanently or indefinitely cease undertaking all MSO activities in relation to one or more MSO products must:

- (a) set out which MSO products the entity will cease to refine or import; and
- (b) explain the reasons and timeframe for paragraph (a); and
- (c) set out the names of any entity likely to carry on the MSO activity in place of the entity providing the notice and, to the extent practicable, what level of obligation should be allocated to each entity under a determination under section 37 of the Act; and
- (d) provide evidence to substantiate the claims made in the notice.

Part 8—Audit

33 Conduct of audits under section 33 or section 34 of the Act

- (1) For the purposes of subsection 35(1) of the Act, this section prescribes requirements to be met by registered greenhouse and energy auditors in carrying out audits under section 33 or section 34 of the Act.
- (2) The audit report must be prepared by a registered greenhouse and energy auditor in accordance with the requirements for reasonable assurance engagements or limited assurance engagements under the NGER (Audit) Determination, as specified in the relevant notice for paragraph 33(3)(a) or paragraph 34(2)(c) of the Act.
- (3) The registered greenhouse and energy auditor must take all reasonable steps to prevent unauthorised use or disclosure of information obtained when conducting an audit.

Part 9—MSO compliance plan

34 Operation of this Part

For paragraph 36(1)(a) of the Act, this Part prescribes matters that must be dealt with by an MSO compliance plan prepared, and kept up to date, by an entity subject to the MSO.

Note:

Subsection 36(2) of the Act requires these plans to also deal with any matters requested by the Secretary under that subsection.

35 What an MSO compliance plan must contain—outline

- (1) An MSO compliance plan must include the following:
 - (a) an outline of the organisational structure of the entity;
 - (b) a list of key people in the entity, their role and contact details;
 - (c) a check list of where the plan implements the requirements in this instrument.
- (2) An MSO compliance plan must set out the processes for review of the plan and keeping the plan up to date.
- (3) An MSO compliance plan must contain a statement signed on behalf of the entity subject to the MSO acknowledging its organisational commitment to the plan.

36 What an MSO compliance plan must contain—overview of current practices

An MSO compliance plan must set out the entity's current procedures for managing each MSO activity they undertake, including:

- (a) a description of the frequency with which MSO products are imported; and
- (b) the volume of the entity's capacity to store each MSO product; and
- (c) the location of facilities at which the entity stores MSO products; and
- (d) details of usual fluctuations in the storage of MSO products; and
- (e) a description of the entity's obligations under any significant ongoing contracts for the supply of MSO products.

37 What an MSO compliance plan must contain—compliance pathway

- (1) An MSO compliance plan must list the steps and strategies the entity:
 - (a) is taking to comply with its MSO; and
 - (b) intends to take if it becomes aware of future or current non-compliance, including relevant contingency plans; and
 - (c) if the entity is not compliant—is taking to bring the entity back into compliance and avoid future non-compliance.
- (2) The steps and strategies the entity is taking to comply with its MSO may include any of the following:
 - (a) building more storage;

- (b) increasing import frequency;
- (c) arrangements to hold stocks under sections 23 or 24 of the Act;
- (d) adapting current business practices.
- (3) If the entity intends to allow its stock to be held by another under section 23 or 24 of the Act, the MSO compliance plan must set out the entity's approach and processes for that to occur.

38 What an MSO compliance plan must contain—data collection, reporting and record keeping

- (1) An MSO compliance plan must set out the entity's current methodology and practice for counting stock, including:
 - (a) a comment on the accuracy of data; and
 - (b) if stock is held in reliance upon sections 7 or 9—the arrangements to ensure the accuracy of these amounts; and
 - (c) if a methodology is required under subsection 14(2)—that methodology.
- (2) An MSO compliance plan must set out the entity's reporting and recordkeeping framework, including:
 - (a) a description of the quality assurance process; and
 - (b) a description of reporting approvals required; and
 - (c) how reporting of arrangements under sections 23 and 24 of the Act are managed; and
 - (d) the process for providing advice required by section 16 of the Act; and
 - (e) the arrangements for keeping records in an auditable form and how those records can be accessed.

39 What an MSO compliance plan must contain—schedule of future outages

An MSO compliance plan must set out any known future scheduled maintenance for any refineries, storage tanks or pipelines where it may lead to an application under section 17 of the Act.

40 Provision of MSO compliance plan to Secretary

For subsection 36(3) of the Act, an entity required to have an MSO compliance plan on 4 July 2023 must make available to the Secretary a copy of that plan by 31 July 2023.

Part 10—Assumption or division of MSO

41 Assumption or division

- (1) For subsection 37(7) of the Act, the Secretary may provide one or more of the following in a determination under subsection 37(1) of the Act:
 - (a) that a notice is taken to have been given to more than one entity;
 - (b) that a notice is taken to have been given to a different entity;
 - (c) that a notice is taken to specify a different quantity.
- (2) The Secretary must take the following into account in making a determination:
 - (a) the principle that the level of MSO should reflect the likely importing and refining activity of each entity;
 - (b) the desirability that the total level of MSO from all notices after the determination be no less than the total level of the MSO before the determination.

Part 11—Monitoring secondary markets and assisting compliance

42 Monitoring of secondary market activity and assisting compliance

- (1) The Secretary must take reasonable steps to monitor the availability and price of section 24 arrangements to assist entities to comply with the MSO.
- (2) The Secretary may publish information or provide assistance to entities relating to their compliance with the MSO.

Part 12—Publication of information

43 Information publication

- (1) As soon as practicable before each 1 July, the Secretary must publish on the Department's website:
 - (a) the number of entities subject to the MSO for each MSO product; and
 - (b) the total volume in megalitres of each MSO product that is required to be held on the first obligation day of the financial year by all entities subject to the MSO; and
 - (c) an estimate of the aggregate percentage of all importing and refining of each MSO product undertaken by entities subject to the MSO for that product based upon:
 - (i) the volumes of imported and refined MSO products from the previous financial year; and
 - (ii) the entities subject to the MSO during the previous financial year.
- (2) If the Secretary makes a decision to reduce a quantity under section 18 of the Act or to suspend the MSO under section 29 of the Act, the Secretary may publish general information about the decision on the Department's website.
- (3) The Secretary must not cause to be published or made available information under this section if the information is:
 - (a) likely to enable the identification of a person; or
 - (b) commercial-in-confidence.

Endnotes

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

The endnotes provide information about this compilation and the compiled law.

The following endnotes are included in every compilation:

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Abbreviation key—Endnote 2

The abbreviation key sets out abbreviations that may be used in the endnotes.

Legislation history and amendment history—Endnotes 3 and 4

Amending laws are annotated in the legislation history and amendment history.

The legislation history in endnote 3 provides information about each law that has amended (or will amend) the compiled law. The information includes commencement details for amending laws and details of any application, saving or transitional provisions that are not included in this compilation.

The amendment history in endnote 4 provides information about amendments at the provision (generally section or equivalent) level. It also includes information about any provision of the compiled law that has been repealed in accordance with a provision of the law.

Editorial changes

The *Legislation Act 2003* authorises First Parliamentary Counsel to make editorial and presentational changes to a compiled law in preparing a compilation of the law for registration. The changes must not change the effect of the law. Editorial changes take effect from the compilation registration date.

If the compilation includes editorial changes, the endnotes include a brief outline of the changes in general terms. Full details of any changes can be obtained from the Office of Parliamentary Counsel.

Misdescribed amendments

A misdescribed amendment is an amendment that does not accurately describe how an amendment is to be made. If, despite the misdescription, the amendment can be given effect as intended, then the misdescribed amendment can be incorporated through an editorial change made under section 15V of the *Legislation Act 2003*.

If a misdescribed amendment cannot be given effect as intended, the amendment is not incorporated and "(md not incorp)" is added to the amendment history.

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

ad = added or inserted

am = amended

amdt = amendment

c = clause(s)

C[x] = Compilation No. x

Ch = Chapter(s)

def = definition(s)

Dict = Dictionary

disallowed = disallowed by Parliament

Div = Division(s)

ed = editorial change

exp = expires/expired or ceases/ceased to have

effect

F = Federal Register of Legislation

gaz = gazette

LA = Legislation Act 2003

LIA = Legislative Instruments Act 2003

(md) = misdescribed amendment can be given

effec

(md not incorp) = misdescribed amendment

cannot be given effect

mod = modified/modification

No. = Number(s)

o = order(s)

Ord = Ordinance

orig = original

par = paragraph(s)/subparagraph(s)

/sub-subparagraph(s)

pres = present

prev = previous

(prev...) = previously

Pt = Part(s)

r = regulation(s)/rule(s)

reloc = relocated

renum = renumbered

rep = repealed

rs = repealed and substituted

s = section(s)/subsection(s)

Sch = Schedule(s)

Sdiv = Subdivision(s)

SLI = Select Legislative Instrument

SR = Statutory Rules

Sub-Ch = Sub-Chapter(s)

SubPt = Subpart(s)

<u>underlining</u> = whole or part not

commenced or to be commenced

Endnotes

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Name	Registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Rules 2022	11 Nov 2022 (F2022L01450)	12 Nov 2022 (s 2)	
Fuel Security (Minimum Stockholding Obligation) Amendment (2023 Measures No. 1) Rules 2023	30 Mar 2023 (F2023L00371)	31 Mar 2023 (s 2(1) item 1)	_

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Provision affected	How affected
Part 1	
s 2	rep LA s 48D
Part 4	
s 22	rs F2023L00371
Part 5	
s 26	am F2023L00371